IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-2149

GROVER REED,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 McClain & McDermott, P.A. Attorneys at Law 141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

Reed was indicted on July 10, 1986, in Duval County, for the first degree murder of Betty Oermann and for armed robbery (R20). Reed had been arrested on April 2, 1986 (R1, 20). The public defender's office was appointed shortly after Reed's arrest on April 3, 1986, and an experienced assistant public defender, Alan Chipperfield, was assigned to represent Reed (R3). After having been Reed's counsel for over 3 months, Chipperfield filed a number of motions on behalf of Reed on July 23, 24, and 25, 1986. One of these motions was for the appointment of an mental health expert due to concerns about Reed's mental health (R23). Also filed was a motion to incur costs of expert witnesses (R39). Chipperfield gave notice of Reed's intent to claim alibi (R27).

After Chipperfield had filed numerous motions on Reed's behalf,
Reed's prosecutor on July 25, 1986, sought to remove Chipperfield from

²Chipperfield explained when called to testify at the 2002 evidentiary hearing that he and his co-counsel (Charlie Cofer) "were real concerned with Grover Reed's history of huffing gasoline and the hospitalization that he had after huffing gasoline and doing drugs where he was having convulsions and where they found an organic problem with his brain." (PC-R1 1191). Chipperfield was aware that Reed had been huffing gasoline since the age of nine and had been diagnosed in records as having "lead encephalopathy due to chronic lead poison seizure disorder caused by valium withdrawal or lead encephalopathy." (2/21/2002 Tr. at 73-74). According to Reed's live-in girlfriend, Chris Niznik, Reed was huffing gasoline and injecting cheap homemade crystal meth in early 1986 (PC-R1 1263-65).

the case after the prosecutor listed a former public defender client as a witness (R89). A hearing was held on the motion to remove Chipperfield as Reed's counsel on August 6, 1986, at which time Chipperfield had been serving as Reed's counsel for 4 months. At the commencement of the hearing, the presiding judge stated:

THE COURT: This is Grover Reed, and the reason this was passed for today was the state had previously filed a motion to disqualify the Public Defender's Office from representing Mr. Reed because of some possible conflicts. At that time and I believe even at this point in time Mr. Chipperfield of the Public Defender's Office cannot certify that a conflict in representation of Mr. Reed actually exists at this time, however, based upon prior hearings as well as the representation of the state they intend to utilize the testimony of one - -

MR. COLLINS: Dell Wade Sperry.

THE COURT: Dell Sperry with regard to the alleged statements made by Mr. Reed to him while he was represented by the Public Defender's Office, in other words Mr. Sperry and Mr. Reed were both represented by the Public Defender's Office at the time, I discussed the possibility and the likelihood of a conflict arising if one does not in fact exist now.

(T19)(emphasis added).³ Even though neither Chipperfield nor Reed

³The alleged witness's name was in fact Dell W. Spearing. Mr. Spearing's court files in Duval County in 1986 show that he was arraigned on three counts of burglary on January 27, 1986. The Duval County Clerk of Court's online docket does show that an assistant pubic defender appeared at court proceedings throughout the month of May and the first week of June of 1986 in Spearing's case. However, the charges against Spearing were nolle prossed on June 6, 1986.

The clerk's online docket also shows that on September 19, 1986, Spearing was arrested on loitering charges and that he waived his right to counsel. A disposition was entered on November 4, 1986.

The Clerk's online docket also shows that on October 5, 1986, Spearing was again arrested on loitering charges and waived his right to counsel. A disposition was entered on November 17, 1986.

The statement from Spearing that the State argued created a

believed that a conflict of interest existed, the trial court thereupon granted the State's motion to disqualify Chipperfield and appointed attorney Richard Nichols as substitute counsel (R205).⁴ At Reed's trial, the State did not in fact call the conflict-creating witness, Spearing, to testify.

After the removal of Chipperfield as Reed's counsel, Nichols made a motion for a non-confidential competency evaluation on October 14, 1986 (T30). At that time, an order for a competency evaluation was entered (R221). On October 30, 1986, it was put on the record that Dr. Miller had completed the competency evaluation of Reed. Defense counsel, Nichols, noted that he had not seen the

conflict of interest which required the removal of Chipperfield was dated July 7, 1986, well over a month after the burglary charges against Spearing had been dropped and he was no longer represented by anyone with the public defender's office. These circumstances certainly provide support for Chipperfield's position that there was no conflict and disqualification was unwarranted and not in Reed's best interest.

⁴Thus, Nichols became Reed's counsel on August 6, 1986 (R206). As a result, Reed was forced to waive his rights to a speedy trial two weeks later on August 20, 1986 (R207). Reed's trial commenced on November 17, 1986, 104 days after Nichols was appointed as his counsel.

⁵At the October 14, 1986, hearing, the State's motion to compel samples of Reed's fingerprints was heard. The motion was granted, and the State indicated that the fingerprint examiner, Bruce Scott, was present in the courtroom (T29-30). What was not mentioned was the fact that Scott had been suspended from his job as an FDLE fingerprint analyst on June 4, 1986 (over 4 months earlier), and resigned his position shortly thereafter, due to his theft and ingestion of cocaine from the FDLE crime lab.

⁶It was further explained on October 30, 1986, that the competency evaluation had been premised upon Nichols' "oral motion for

report nor spoken to the mental health expert, but that the prosecutor "has spoken to Dr. Miller and the indication is that he doesn't question the defendant's competency to stand trial or at the time of the offense" (T38).

Nichols during the same hearing did "ask the Court to allow [him] to incur some expense, I would say 5 hundred dollars, to allow [him] to get assistance of an expert in trial preparation" (T56). Nichols explained he was "not asking for a private psychiatric expert to assist me in the preparation of a the defense based on insanity" (T57). Instead, he was asking for "expert advice of a psychologist either in voir dire or in cross-examination" (T58).

The trial began on November 17, 1986. On November 20, 1986, the jury returned its verdict. ⁸ Guilty verdicts were returned

competency to stand trial" (T39).

Thus at the October 30th hearing and less than 3 weeks before trial, Nichols in essence abandoned Chipperfield's motion requesting the appointment of a confidential mental health expert, which had been filed 3 months earlier, in late July.

Your Honor

If it may be possible; I would like to clear some confusion I have concerning the testimony of the witness said to be a blood expert.

In the first part of his testimony, he said that he had determined two characteristics of Betty Orman [sic] and

⁸During the jury's deliberations, the forewoman sent a note requesting: "We need to read the testimony from the forensic serologist regarding the blood type in relation to the semen." (R275). Juror David Booker wrote a handwritten letter to the judge explaining his concerns:

on all three counts, and Reed was convicted as charged in the indictment (R276-78, T837). His counsel, Nichols, then entered into a stipulation with the prosecutor that no penalty phase testimony would be presented to the jury (T846-47). Accordingly, no evidence was presented by the defense during the penalty phase. After hearing

Grover Reed's blood.

My confusion stems from the second characteristic that he gave. It was my understanding, due to this second blood characteristic, that Betty Orman's [sic] body fluids would contain her blood type and that Grover Reed's blood type could not be obtained from his body fluids.

In the last part of his testimony, the witness said that he had examined the sperm in question, and that the blood type obtained from it was the same as that of Grover Reed.

Using the second characteristic of Grover Reed's blood, as I understand it; his blood type can not be obtained from his saliva or sperm.

What I would like to know is whether or not his testimony is consistent to the fact that the sperm could and did contain Grover Reed's blood type.

David Booker

(R261).

[&]quot;[t]here were a couple of people whose testimony may have supported in some fashion [Reed's] theory of the case or the defense theory of the case and may have in some fashion operated as impeachment witnesses. We discussed at the time of trial and decided not to call these witnesses." (SPC-R1 85). However, Nichols stated on the record in open court: "Mr. Reed has steadfastly maintained his innocence" (T850). Indeed in the motion for new trial, Nichols as an officer of the court represented that the reason that he elected not to call any witnesses was because he believed that "the effect of their testimony would not be sufficiently probative to justify the Defendant's forfeiting the opening and closing arguments during the final argument." (R379).

closing arguments, the jury deliberated twenty minutes and returned an 11-1 death recommendation (T909).

The sentencing hearing before the judge was delayed at the defense's request to allow counsel the opportunity call witnesses. However, defense counsel, Nichols, explained when the time came to present the evidence on December 18, 1986, "we had passed the matter to today to try to get witnesses here from out of state to testify in Mr. Reed's behalf, primarily in the fashion of character witnesses and because of finances and logistics, none of those witnesses are available and I don't have any reasonable likelihood that they're going to be available so I cannot and will not at this time ask the court to delay this hearing any further on that basis." (SPC-R1 86)(emphasis added). When the judge imposed the death sentence on January 9, 1987, he specifically noted while addressing the statutory mitigating factors, that "no evidence was offered to show that any of these three mitigating factors existed" (T939). The judge did

¹⁰ However, the record showed that the State was not so limited financially or logistically. Money was available to the State from the clerk's office to obtain the testimony of relevant witnesses that the State wanted to call which was apparently unavailable to the defense. For example, the State was permitted to obtain funds from the Clerk of Court to pay \$67.00, in addition to the airfare and hotel accommodations provided by the State (R255-56). The State obtained an order directing the Clerk of Court to pay Debra Hipp "\$350.00 for expenses she incurred by responding to the subpoena" (R257-58). The State also obtained an order directing the Clerk of Court to pay Patrick Hipp "\$732.00 for expenses he incurred by responding to the subpoena" (R259-60). Of course, Patrick Hipp, who was Debra Hipp's husband, did not testify at Reed's trial.

¹¹At the December 18, 1986, proceeding before Judge Southwood, Nichols

note that evidence of Reed's age was presented, but that it did not establish the age mitigating circumstance. The judge then turned to the non-statutory mitigating circumstances and observed that "no evidence has been presented to show the existence of any other factors which should be considered in mitigation." (T940). The trial judge followed the jury's recommendation and imposed a death sentence, finding six aggravators and no mitigating circumstances (R389-91; T938-40).

On direct appeal, Reed was represented by the same attorney who represented him at trial, Richard Nichols. On June 1, 1987, Nichols filed a ten page, one issue brief. After receiving this ten-page, one-issue initial brief, this Court issued an order finding that the brief "does not appear to be a good faith effort to address

did indicate that he would "like to file with the clerk" hospital records that "have to do with Mr. Reed's mental state as a result of some drug dependency and some toxic response to some lead from, I think it was what they allege was sniffing gasoline over a long period of time" (T921). At the same time, Nichols indicated he would "also like to file with the clerk" hospital records relating "to Mr. Reed's past emotional and drug problems" (T922). The judge concluded the proceeding asking counsel "to submit memorandum only dealing with the statutory aggravating and mitigating circumstances and that to be submitted to me no later than January the 6th." (T923). The record shows that Nichols filed no sentencing memorandum prior to the January 9, 1987, sentencing pronouncement, and during that proceeding made no arguments of any kind on behalf of Reed prior to the imposition of a death sentence (T928-31).

¹²Again, this was the same attorney who abandoned Chipperfield's motion for the appointment of a confidential mental health expert to assist the defense, who chose to present no evidence at the guilt phase of Reed's trial, who chose to present no mitigating evidence at the penalty phase of Reed's trial and who chose to call no witnesses (T921) and make absolutely no argument at Reed's sentencing (T928-31).

all of the issues available on appeal." Reed v. State, FSC Case No. 70,069 (September 9, 1987). This Court relinquished jurisdiction for a determination of "either that Reed's current counsel can fulfill his responsibilities as an appellate lawyer by filing an adequate supplemental brief or that new counsel should be appointed." Id. In answer to this Court's order, the circuit court appointed the public defender to serve as Reed's appellate counsel. Thereafter, a new initial brief was filed on Reed's behalf.

In deciding Reed's direct appeal, this Court initially granted him a new trial based upon the discriminatory manner by which the prosecutor used the State's peremptory challenges to exclude blacks from Reed's jury. Reed v. State, 14 Fla. L. Weekly S298, S299 (Fla. June 15, 1989). However, this Court subsequently granted the State's motion for rehearing and withdrew the opinion granting Reed a new trial. In its place, a new opinion issued affirming Reed's conviction and sentence of death. Reed v. State, 560 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1990).

In reviewing Reed's death sentence, this Court struck two of the six aggravating circumstances, *i.e.* the prior violent felony and the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravators. Nonetheless, this Court then affirmed the sentence of death observing: "There remain four aggravating circumstances balanced against a total absence of mitigating circumstances." Reed, 560 So. 2d at 207. 13

 $^{^{13}\}mathrm{Of}$ course, there was no mitigating evidence because Reed's counsel,

On February 28, 1992, Reed filed a motion to vacate his conviction and sentence of death. On August 25, 1992, the circuit court summarily denied all relief (PCR 309). Reed appealed, and this Court reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing on Reed's ineffective assistance claim. Reed v. State, 640 So. 2d 1094 (Fla, 1994). This Court also vacated the erroneous denial of Reed's public records requests. This Court held: "Reed should be allowed a reasonable time to amend his petition under rule 3.850 to include any pertinent information obtained from the documents." Reed, 640 So. 2d at 1098.

While Reed's case was pending on remand, the Florida Legislature broke the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative apart and created a registry list of attorneys to be appointed where the three regional offices were unable for whatever reason to provide collateral representation. In the fallout from this legislative action, Reed was stripped of collateral representation by one of the CCR offices and a registry attorney, Chris Anderson, was appointed to serve as Reed's collateral counsel. An evidentiary hearing was conducted on August 26, 2002. Thereafter, the circuit court entered an order denying post conviction relief. Reed appealed challenging the circuit court's denial of Reed's numerous ineffective assistance

Nichols, stipulated to the presentation of no mitigating evidence at the penalty phase proceeding and as he explained at the judge sentencing: "because of **finances and logistics**, none of those witnesses are available" (SPC-R1 86) (emphasis added).

of counsel and Brady claims. Anderson, on Reed's behalf, also filed a 15 page habeas petition with this Court. This Court affirmed the denial of Rule 3.851 relief and denied the habeas petition. Reed v. State, 875 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 2004).

On July 5, 2005, Reed filed a federal habeas petition after undersigned counsel was appointed to serve as Reed's federal habeas counsel by the federal district court. On September 29, 2008, the federal district court issued an order denying Reed's habeas petition. On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed. Reed v. Sec'y, Dept. of Corrs., 593 F.3d 1217 (11th Cir. 2010).

On November 26, 2010, Reed served a motion seeking the appointment of the undersigned as Reed's registry counsel under §27.710. This motion was premised upon the fact that the circuit court had entered an order on July 13, 2005, which was not served on

¹⁴During the collateral appeal, Anderson filed a motion to withdraw as Reed's counsel citing irreconcilable conflicts. This motion was filed with this Court on March 28, 2003. This Court denied the motion. Thus in the history of Reed's case, he lost Chipperfield as counsel because the State alleged a conflict that neither Chipperfield nor Reed saw. Reed lost the assistance of attorneys at CCR when the Legislature decided to break the office up and create a registry of attorneys to handle capital collateral cases. Then when a motion was filed seeking the removal of an attorney due to irreconcilable conflicts, Reed was forced to continue with an attorney whom he did not trust.

The first 11 pages of the habeas petition concerned *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). The remaining 3 claims were each less a page in length and faulted Reed's appellate attorney for failing: 1) to challenge the trial prosecutor's improper remarks, 2) to challenge the instructions concerning aggravating circumstances as unconstitutional, and 3) to raise trial counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to challenge the sufficiency of the State's evidence.

Reed nor upon his federally appointed counsel, discharging Anderson as Reed's registry counsel (PC-R2 43). 16 It was only in the wake of Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), that undersigned counsel learned of the order discharging Anderson and informed Reed that Anderson had been discharged as his counsel. In his 2010 motion for appointment of registry counsel, Reed asked that undersigned counsel be appointed nunc pro tunc to November 1, 2010, when he became aware that he was without registry counsel (PC-R2 42-45).

On November 29, 2010, Reed filed a Rule 3.851 motion to vacate his conviction and sentence of death (PC-R2 1). In this motion, Reed presented two claims for relief: 1) a claim premised upon the decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 44 (2009); and 2) a newly discovered evidence claim premised upon affidavits obtained from James Hazen and Johnny Kormondy (PC-R2, 30). 17

On December 15, 2010, the circuit court granted the motion for appointment of collateral counsel and appointed the undersigned as Reed's state court registry counsel *nunc pro tunc* to November 1,

¹⁶After Anderson was appointed to serve as Reed's registry counsel, Reed was aware that he had sought unsuccessfully to withdraw as Reed's counsel in a motion filed with this Court on March 28, 2003. Reed v. State, Case No. SC02-2191. A motion seeking to withdraw was also filed in the habeas proceeding pending in this Court on March 31, 2003. Reed v. Crosby, Case No. SC03-558. However, this Court denied these motions. It was not until the July 2005 order from the circuit court that he was formally discharged as Reed's registry counsel. As to this order of discharge, Reed was not informed.

 $^{^{17}}$ Since the filing of the Rule 3.851 motion, there have been numerous appellate decisions that bear upon the claims that Mr. Reed originally set forth.

2010 (PC-R2 52). Thus bringing to a close the five year and four month period that Reed was without registry counsel under § 27.710 who was available to pursue collateral relief on his behalf in the state courts of Florida.

On December 22, 2010, the State filed its answer to the Rule 3.851 motion (PC-R2 56). As to Reed's newly discovered evidence claim, the State argued that Reed was not diligent:

This claim is being raised years too late. By February 5, 2007, when Reed filed an amendment to his federal habeas petition raising this same claim of newly discovered evidence of innocence.

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