In the Supreme Court of Florida

GROVER REED,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC11-2149

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0989134
Office of the Attorney General
PL-01, The Capitol
Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050
(850) 414-3584
(850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

CLAIM I

Reed argues that the trial court erred in summarily denying his newly discovered evidence claim. First, as the trial court found, Reed was not diligent. The affidavits were signed in 2007 but the claim was not raised until 2010. Moreover, as the trial court ruled, there was "no possibility, much less probability" that the affidavits would result in an acquittal given the "overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt." And, as the trial court observed, "convenient confessions" by "dead death row inmates are anything but credible." The trial court properly summarily denied the newly discovered evidence claim in the successive motion.

CLAIM II

Reed argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion for discovery of a latent fingerprint. The trial court did not abuse its vast discretion regarding discovery motions in postconviction proceedings. The motion should have been filed during trial or at the initial postconviction proceedings. Furthermore, a second fingerprint on the check taken during the murder cannot exonerate Reed. Regardless of any other fingerprints on the check, Reed's fingerprints were definitively proven to be on the check both at trial and during the 2002 evidentiary hearing. The trial court properly denied the motion.

CLAIM III

Reed asserts that the trial court's and this Court's prejudice analysis in the initial postconviction proceedings regarding his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel was flawed based on Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S. -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009). Walton v. State, 77 So.3d 639 (Fla. 2011), controls. The trial court properly summarily denied this claim.

CLAIM IV

Reed asserts that Florida's lethal injection protocols are unconstitutional. $Valle\ v.\ State,\ 70\ So.3d\ 530\ (Fla.\ 2011),$ controls.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE SUCCESSIVE 3.851 MOTION RAISING A NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE CLAIM? (RESTATED)

Reed argues that the trial court erred in summarily denying his newly discovered evidence claim. First, as the trial court found, Reed was not diligent. The affidavits were signed in 2007 but the claim was not raised until 2010. Moreover, as the trial court ruled, there was "no possibility, much less probability" that the affidavits would result in an acquittal given the "overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt." And, as the trial court observed, "convenient confessions" by "dead death row inmates are anything but credible." The trial court properly summarily denied the newly discovered evidence claim in the successive motion.

The trial court's ruling

The trial court denied the newly discovered evidence claim. (R. Vol. II 296-297). The trial court noted that neither of the affidavits "connects Kirkland to the death of the victim in this case" except "perhaps by innuendo" (R. Vol. II 296). The trial court ruled that the newly discovered evidence claim was untimely. (R. Vol. II 296-297). The trial court noted that the two affidavits were signed on January 30, 2007 but the successive motion raising the newly discovered evidence claim based on these

affidavits was not filed until November, 2010. The trial court also ruled that there was "no possibility, much less probability" that the affidavits would result in an acquittal given the "overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt." (R. Vol. II 297). The trial court observed that "convenient confessions" by "dead death row inmates are anything but credible." (R. Vol. II 297).

Standard of review

The standard of review is *de novo. Gore v. State*, 2012 WL 1149320, 4 (Fla. 2012)(citing *Walton v. State*, 3 So.3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009)). "A successive rule 3.851 motion may be denied without an evidentiary hearing if the records of the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." *Gore v. State*, 2012 WL 1149320, 4 (Fla. 2012)(citing Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(B) and affirming the trial court's denial of a successive motion). Additionally, a postconviction motion may be summarily denied as a matter of law. If, for example, there is controlling precedent against a claim raised in a postconviction motion, the trial court may properly summarily deny such a claim.

Merits

Reed asserts a claim of newly discovered evidence of innocence based on a dead inmate's claim that he raped and murdered a Jacksonville woman about the same time as the murder in this case.

Reed has obtained affidavits from two inmates, James Hazen and Johnny Shane Kormondy, 1 claiming that a third inmate, Dwayne Kirkland, who has since died, told them that he raped and murdered a woman in Jacksonville. 2

I. Newly discovered evidence

A legally sufficient claim of newly discovered evidence must establish two elements: 1) the newly discovered evidence must not have been known by the trial court, the party, or counsel, and it must appear that the defendant or defense counsel could not have known of it by the use of due diligence; and 2) the evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal or yield a less severe sentence on retrial. Clark v. State, 35 So.3d

Hazen, Kormondy, and Buffkin entered the home of a married couple, all three raped the wife and murdered the husband. Kormondy was the triggerman. Hazen's convictions for one count of first-degree felony murder, three counts of armed sexual battery, one count of burglary of a dwelling with an assault and one count of armed robbery were affirmed but his death sentence was reduced to life imprisonment on appeal by the Florida Supreme Court. Hazen v. State, 700 So.2d 1207 (Fla.1997). Kormondy's conviction for first-degree murder, three counts of sexual battery with use of a deadly weapon or physical force, burglary of a dwelling with assault and robbery while armed were affirmed and his death sentence was affirmed following a resentencing. Kormondy v. State, 703 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1997); Kormondy v. State, 845 So.2d 41 (Fla. 2003).

Kirkland's conviction for first degree murder was reduced to second-degree murder and his death sentence was vacated on appeal by the Florida Supreme Court. $Kirkland\ v.\ State$, 684 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1996).

880, 891 (Fla. 2010) citing *Jones v. State*, 709 So.2d 512, 521 (Fla. 1998); See also Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2).

A. Diligence

In Clark v. State, 35 So.3d 880, 891-893 (Fla. 2010), the Florida Supreme Court denied a claim of newly discovered evidence of innocence based on an inmate's statement that the co-defendant had confessed to the inmate that he, the co-defendant, was the actual shooter, not the defendant as untimely and meritless. The Florida Supreme Court found that the claim was untimely because the defendant failed to raise this claim within one year of discovering it. Clark acknowledged that he became aware of the inmate's statement in 2005 but did not raise the claim until 2007. Clark, 35 So.3d at 892. Nor was the evidence, reasoned the Florida Supreme Court, "of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal for the Defendant on retrial."

Reed, like Clark, was not diligent. This claim is being raised years too late. These affidavits were signed in January of 2007 yet the successive motion raising this claim was not filed until November of 2010 - nearly four years later. This claim is over three years late. As in *Clark*, this claim is untimely.

Registry counsel claims as a basis for "equitably tolling" of the one year time limitation, that prior registry counsel withdrew as counsel without notice being given to Reed or current registry counsel. Even assuming rule 3.851 is subject to equitable tolling, this explanation is not a valid basis for equity. Current registry counsel had no trouble filing this successive motion years later as he could have done years earlier. Current registry counsel McClain is also federal habeas counsel. By February 5, 2007, when Reed filed an amendment to his federal habeas petition raising this same claim of newly discovered evidence of innocence, current registry counsel was aware of the underlying facts that form the basis of this claim. Reed v. McNeil, 3:05-cv-00612 (Fla. M.D.). All that Mr. McClain had to do to discover that former registry counsel Chris Anderson had withdrawn was to make one phone call to Chris Surely, reasonable habeas counsel would have contacted Anderson. state postconviction counsel with these affidavits if for no other reason than to exhaust the federal claim of actual innocence in state court as required by the federal habeas statute. Current registry counsel should have contacted former registry counsel years earlier. Current registry counsel should have asked to be appointed by the state courts years earlier. Equitable tolling is not warranted on such facts.

B. Not likely to produce an acquittal

This evidence is not likely to produce an acquittal at retrial.

Marek v. State, 14 So.3d 985, 990-994 (Fla. 2009)(rejecting a claim of newly discovered evidence, in a third successive postconviction motion, based on a co-defendant's statements that he was the actual killer because "the probative value of the testimony recounting Wigley's statements is negligible.")

Affidavits from former death row inmates regarding what a third former death row inmate, who is now conveniently dead, told them over fifteen years ago are not reliable. Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 423, 113 S.Ct. 853, 872, 122 L.Ed.2d 203 (1993) (O'Connor, J., concurring)(noting that the affidavits "conveniently blame a dead man-someone who will neither contest the allegations nor suffer punishment as a result of them."). Just as in Herrera, Kirkland is dead. Reed, like Herrera, is conveniently blaming a dead man. As the trial court observed, "convenient confessions" by "dead death row inmates are anything but credible."

Contrary to registry counsel's assertion, it is very doubtful that Kirkland's statements would satisfy the statement-against-penal-interest hearsay exception. IB at 39 n.44. The rationale underlying the exception is that an unincarcerated person would not make a statement that would result in his incarceration for a crime if such a statement were not true. *People v. Gibian*, 76 A.D.3d 583, 599, 907 N.Y.S.2d 226, 239 (N.Y.A.D. 2 Dept. 2010)(explaining

the rationale for admitting statements against penal interest into evidence is that they are more trustworthy than other forms of hearsay because human experience teaches that people do not ordinarily make statements which will subject them to criminal prosecution unless those statements are true). However, as Justice O'Connor noted, a dead man or a soon to be dead man who is already incarcerated for life will not suffer any punishment as a result of his statements and therefore, the exception should not apply. Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 423, 113 S.Ct. 853, 872, 122 L.Ed.2d 203 (1993) (O'Connor, J., concurring)(noting that the affidavits "conveniently blame a dead man - someone who will neither contest the allegations nor suffer punishment as a result of them.").

Moreover, as in Herrera, the affidavits contain inconsistencies. Kormondy's affidavit states that Kirkland knew that he was going to die soon and he wanted to "make peace with what he had done." Surely, a person who wanted to make peace with himself and knew he was dying would have informed the warden or the prosecutor that he was the "real killer," not merely another inmate. The two inmates give no details that would connect Kirkland's alleged confession of a rape and murder of an older, white Jacksonville woman in February of 1986 to this particular murder.

Moreover, neither of these inmates explains his long delay in coming forward. Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 423-424, 113

S.Ct. 853, 872, 122 L.Ed.2d 203 (1993)(observing, in a capital case, where the affidavits exonerating the defendant were given over eight years after petitioner's trial, that "[n]o satisfactory explanation has been given as to why the affiants waited until the 11th hour--and, indeed, until after the alleged perpetrator of the murders himself was dead--to make their statements.). As Justice O'Connor noted:

Affidavits like these are not uncommon, especially in capital cases. They are an unfortunate although understandable occurrence. It seems that, when a prisoner's life is at stake, he often can find someone new to vouch for him. Experience has shown, however, that such affidavits are to be treated with a fair degree of skepticism. These affidavits are no exception. They are suspect, produced as they were at the 11th hour with no reasonable explanation for the nearly decade-long delay.

Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 423-424, 113 S.Ct. 853, 872, 122 L.Ed.2d 203 (1993) (O'Connor, J., concurring). She also noted that the defendant had delayed presenting his new evidence until eight years after conviction — without offering a "semblance of a reasonable excuse for the inordinate delay." This Court should do just as the United States Supreme Court suggested it do — it should treat these two affidavits with a fair degree of skepticism. As in Herrera, there is no explanation for the delay in reporting the alleged "real" killer's confession. According to both inmates' affidavits, the conversations with Kirkland, where he "confessed"

to the murder, occurred in approximately 1995. The inmates do not explain their ten or twelve year delay in reporting the conversations.

And, as in Herrera, the evidence against Reed is overwhelming, including his fingerprints on the victim's checks, found in the victim's backyard, which were taken from the victim's checkbook in her purse taken during the robbery. Reed v. State, 875 So.2d 415, 427 (Fla. 2004) (rejecting an ineffectiveness claim and explaining the trial court wrote, "it was obvious to the jury that the fingerprint was fresh as it was found on a check to which the defendant had no access, in a wallet to which the defendant had no access, which had been inside the residence prior to the rape and murder of the victim, and which was found laying in the backyard by investigating officers," quoting the postconviction order at 10). The State has both scientific and physical evidence rebutting Reed's claim that Kirkland committed this rape and murder. The evidence against Reed includes his fingerprints on the victim's stolen check which were reconfirmed to be Reed's fingerprints by a different fingerprint expert the state postconviction at proceedings. Reed ignores this fingerprint evidence in his actual

³ Kirkland's conversation with Kormondy, which occurred on death row had to have occurred before 1997 when Kirkland was removed from death row. So, there is at least a ten year delay in Kormondy's reporting of the conversation.

innocence claim. While Reed argues about the "freshness" of his fingerprints, he does not account for the existence of fingerprint on an item that was obviously taken during the crime. IB at 23. Additionally, Reed's baseball cap was found near the victim's body inside her house. Reed, 560 So.2d at 204-205 (summarizing the "most significant evidence of Reed's guilt" to include the witnesses who positively identified the baseball cap as Reed's because of the presence of certain stains and mildew and testifying that they had seen Reed wearing his baseball cap on the day of the murder but not thereafter); Reed, 875 So.2d at 422 (noting the positive identification of Reed's cap itself testimony that it was last seen in his possession on the day of the murder). Reed does not explain his baseball cap at the murder scene either. A viable claim of actual innocence must account for the State's scientific evidence of his quilt. Escamilla v. Jungwirth, 426 F.3d 868, 871 (7th Cir. 2005)("Courts do not allow prisoners to start with clean slates after their convictions and arque 'actual innocence' as if the trial had not occurred."). The scientific and physical evidence rebuts Reed's claim of actual innocence. As the trial court noted rejecting this claim there is "overwhelming evidence" of Reed's guilt.

Evidentiary hearings in successive motions

The trial court properly summarily denied this claim without an evidentiary hearing. No evidentiary hearing was required. Van Poyck v. State, 961 So.2d 220 (Fla. 2007)(concluding that capital defendant was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on claim of newly discovered evidence based on co-defendant's alleged confession that he was the actual shooter). This Court should not have the same standard for granting evidentiary hearings for successive motions as it does for initial postconviction motions. While this Court requiring evidentiary hearings in initial motions is both desirable and understandable, requiring evidentiary hearings for successive motions is not. This Court should explicitly adopt a more stringent standard for successive motions in the interest of finality.

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